**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Jasper County

Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**  
JUL 18 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

ANEISHA SHAIRES YOUNG,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000525

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether appellant was deprived of her right to due process, where the defense was suddenly notified on the third day of trial that Debbie Spann would testify as a jailhouse snitch that appellant admitted her guilt to Spann in prison, since the solicitor not informing appellant of the basic content -- a synopsis -- of the testimony of this state's witness was outside the established course of discovery conduct, and constituted "trial by ambush" in violation of due process notice?

2.

Whether the court erred by allowing the text messages to be introduced into evidence through the business custodian where defense counsel correctly argued they were not trustworthy to be admissible under Rule 803 (6), SCRE, that they were unduly prejudicial and confusing, and where the court incorrectly reasoned the jury could "infer what they want" from text messages because the court believed appellant wrote them but where the texts admittedly could have multiple meanings and some of them were undoubtedly vulgar?

3.

Whether the court erred by qualifying SLED agent Eric Grabski as an expert in cell phone location data analysis where he admitted the program and method of his cell phone analysis had never been peer reviewed, and that he had never been qualified as an expert in state court in this area before, and where the erroneous qualification of Grabski allowed him to allege that appellant's cell phone was, in context, suspiciously "on the move" on the night of the murder?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Jasper County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder, attempted murder, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. R. 576 – 581. Her case was called to trial on March 12, 2018, before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, and a jury. Stephen T. Plexico represented appellant. Brian Hollen, Patrick Hall, and Lynnor Musser were the assistant solicitors. R. 1 – 2.

On March 15, 2018, appellant was found guilty on all three counts. R. 512, ll. 2-10. Judge Mullen sentenced appellant for thirty years imprisonment for murder, ten years consecutive for attempted murder, and five years concurrent for possession of a weapon during a violent crime. R. 513, ll. 5-20.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

### **Discovery violation – non-Brady**

The appellate court analyzes “the circuit court’s ruling under an abuse of discretion standard.” State v. Lawton, 382 S.C. 122, 127, 675 S.E.2d 454, 457 (2009). “A violation of Rule 5 is not reversible unless prejudice is shown.” State v. Landon, 370 S.C. 103, 108, 634 S.E.2d 660, 663 (2006). “Admission of evidence falls within the trial court’s discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent abuse of that discretion.” State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 625, 525 S.E.2d 246, 247 (2000)).

### **Evidentiary issues**

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

### **Expert testimony**

The decision of whether to admit or exclude testimony from an expert witness is within the sound discretion of the circuit court. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006) (citations omitted). The circuit court’s decision to admit expert testimony will not be reversed on appeal absent “a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006) (citations omitted). An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court's conclusions “either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495

(2013) (quoting Douglas, 369 S.C. at 429–30, 632 S.E.2d at 848) (internal quotation marks omitted). “A [circuit] court's ruling on the admissibility of an expert's testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion where the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair.” State v. Grubbs, 353 S.C. 374, 379, 577 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing Means v. Gates, 348 S.C. 161, 166, 558 S.E.2d 921, 924 (Ct.App.2001)). To show prejudice, the appellant must prove “that there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof.” Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) (citing Means, 348 S.C. at 166, 558 S.E.2d at 924).

## ARGUMENT

1.

Appellant was deprived of her right to due process, where the defense was suddenly notified on the third day of trial that Debbie Spann would testify as a jailhouse snitch that appellant admitted her guilt to Spann in prison, since the solicitor not informing appellant of the basic content -- a synopsis -- of the testimony of this state's witness was outside the established course of discovery conduct, and constituted "trial by ambush" in violation of due process notice.

### **Introduction**

Defense counsel Plexico objected on the third day of trial when the prosecution suddenly announced, without any prior notice, that it was going to have Debbie Spann testify Appellant Young allegedly confessed to her in jail that she committed the murder. Plexico would argue this "trial by ambush" violated due process, and all of the tenets of fundamental notice fairness that the solicitor's office and the defense attorneys operated under in that judicial circuit. R. 243, 1. 9 – 250, 1. 11.

Counsel Plexico filed his Motion for Discovery and Disclosure of Evidence and Brady Motion and Criminal Procedure Rule 5 and 6 Edwards Notice on May 26, 2016 – ten months prior to trial – but Plexico's trial argument made clear that the defense understood an "open file policy" existed or at least an understanding or course of dealings that at least the bare bones of such an inculpatory statement made by the defendant to a state's witness would not be hidden from the defense for any alleged technical discovery reason. Supp. R. 1 – 4.

During general *voir dire*, the trial judge listed as witnesses, among many others: "Marie Powell of Ridgeland, South Carolina. Debbie Spann of Ridgeland, South Carolina." R. 3, 1. 22 – 4, 1. 6. As will be seen *infra*, Debbie Spann would later testify, over objection, that appellant

admitted her guilt, while they were in the detention center together, in the murder of the decedent. The trial judge would also later note that she had called out Spann's name during voir dire. One logical and rational interpretation of the fact that Spann was on the state's witnesses list was that there was no reason to think the solicitor did not know, at least generally, what he thought Spann were going to say when called as a witness: That appellant confessed to murder.

### **Trial Evidence**

Matthew Fraleigh worked for the Jasper County Communications Center. Matthew remembered a 911 call where a man said somebody was shooting at them but did not identify the shooter. <sup>1</sup> R. 32, l. 20 – 33, l. 7.

EMS employee Rusty Wells was also working as a reserve police officer for the Ridgeland Police Department on April 30, 2016. He recalled a scene behind the Kentucky Fried Chicken in Ridgeland where, "I found two individuals sitting on the ground. One was holding another individual." The wounded man was Wrenshad Anderson. Devonte Freeman was lying next to Anderson and he had a gunshot wound in the back of his head. Devonte Freeman would later die. R. 35, l. 1 – 37, l. 17.

Anderson told Officer Wells that "Peanut [Eric Darien] and Dre [Keandre Frazier]" were the shooters and that they were dressed in all black. R. 38, l. 11 – 39, l. 13. Wells said Anderson told him he had "contact numbers for Peanut and Dre in his cell phone, and then, he also identified Aneisha --" R. 40, l. 23 – 41, l. 5. Wells read from his "narrative" which stated, "Anderson, at some point in time during his excited state, indicated that he had in his cell phone the contact numbers for Peanut and Dre. He also included a third name of Aneisha. He further

---

<sup>1</sup> The 911 call, State's Exhibit 1, is on file with this Court.

indicated several times that Peanut and Dre were suspects. Anderson also indicated that Freeman [the decedent] and Peanut [Eric Darien] had a beef all day.”

Wells admitted he did not know who Aneisha was at the time. R. 49, ll. 2-22. Wells also acknowledged that Anderson “never said Aneisha was the shooter.” R. 50, ll. 21-23. R. 58, ll. 2-22. Part of Anderson’s statement was read to the jury without objection:

We just left the Siesta [Motel] Weekly rentals. Talking to Mr. Horton [the owner]. And we was walking to Econo Lodge. When we got close to KFC path, that’s when we heard shots.

I’m sorry. I’m trying to decipher this.

Vonte got into it with peanut earlier today, and we saw Neisha and her friend. That’s when we was ordered to leave. That’s when we left walking, and they sneak up behind us and started shooting.

Q: Does that statement say Aneisha?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Okay. So you were given that name Aneisha by Mr. Anderson less than 45 minutes after the shooting. Is that right?

A: Somewhere around there, yes, sir.

R. 61, ll. 13 – 62, l. 3.

As will be seen infra, Anderson repeatedly said he was “delirious” at the time, and disclaimed responsibility for the accuracy of anything he asserted.

Alex Inniss was a paramedic with the Jasper County Fire and Rescue crew. He remembered finding the decedent with a gunshot wound to his head lying on his back. The decedent was not responsive although he was breathing and had a pulse. The decedent never regained consciousness while being airlifted to a hospital in Savannah. R. 72, l. 3 – 75, l. 4.

Lieutenant Joey Ginn testified that on April 30, 2016, he responded to a shooting behind the Kentucky Fried Chicken in Jasper County. R. 79, ll. 12-23. He later spoke with Keith

Horton, the owner of the Siesta Hotel. R. 79, l. 24 – 80, l. 23. Lieutenant Ginn remembered that Anderson was very confused and excited after his decedent brother was shot. Ginn did his best to calm Anderson down. R. 81, l. 18 – 83, l. 12.

Lieutenant Ginn said he was later told by Officer Wells that there were two unknown suspects dressed in all black. “They could have been Asian, they could have been Hispanic, they could have been white, they could have been black.” R. 93, ll. 10-17.

Demitria Williams was pregnant with the decedent’s child at the time he was killed. Williams had gone to school with appellant and knew her from there. R. 102, l. 4 – 104, l. 4. Williams testified a week before the decedent was shot and killed that appellant allegedly came to her house and “she knocked on my door when me and Davonte Freeman was living together at [the] Siesta. Williams said that appellant burst her way inside and fought with the decedent in front of her. Williams claimed that appellant threatened to kill the decedent and was cursing at him. Williams also maintained that appellant “tried going through his pants pockets -- on the floor by the bed,” saying, “that N has some of her money.” R. 104, l. 10 – 105, l. 14.

Williams testified that the police never came and talked to her or the decedent about alleged stealing from appellant. R. 106, ll. 9-14.

Bernard Seabrooks was living at the Siesta Hotel on April 29 – 30, 2016, the night the decedent was killed. He was playing cards and he remembered seeing Wrenshad Anderson, “Kwame.” Again, Kwame was the decedent’s brother. R. 114, l. 25 – 115, l. 25. Seabrooks remembered seeing Horton, the owner of the Siesta Hotel, talking to the decedent and Peanut [Eric Darien] that night. R. 116, l. 3 – 119, l. 15.

Keith Horton testified that the decedent rented from him at various times at the Siesta, but he was on trespass notice at the time of the shooting. R. 120, l. 21 – 121, l. 23. Horton said he

was not angry with the decedent for being in violation of the trespass notice because “Davonte was always very polite.” The decedent was a drifter and apparently homeless during some hard times. R. 122, l. 2 – 125, l. 7.

Horton remembered the decedent and his brother Wrenshad Anderson leaving together in a car that evening with appellant. Horton said he heard later “that somebody had been shot behind the KFC and everything, and I went and hung out. I was still on site whenever we got the call from the police. I think the police department came back over there.” R. 126, l. 5 – 127, l. 22.

Wrenshad Anderson testified about the events at the Siesta Hotel before the shooting. Anderson remembered talking with appellant in Seabrooks’ room that evening. Anderson maintained it was “funny” to see appellant at the Siesta Hotel because she “wasn’t supposed to be there.” R. 156, l. 4 – 157, l. 23.

Anderson claimed appellant was wearing all black that evening. He further maintained that he knew his decedent brother and appellant had “got into it.” R. 158, l. 17 – 159, l. 9.

Anderson remembered walking through the brush with his decedent brother when they heard loud gunshots. The decedent was hit and he fell to the ground. R. 160, l. 17 – 167, l. 3.

Anderson admitted he told the police that Peanut [Eric Darien] and Dre [Keandre Frazier] were the shooters but repeatedly now claimed: “I was delusional. Something like that happened to you and you almost got your life taken from you, and these people shooting at you -- you don’t know what’s happening with your brother. You just know they haul him off somewhere, and yeah, I was a little delusional. Like, yeah, I was delusional . . .” R. 166, l. 8 – 167, l. 13.

Anderson said that he knew the decedent and appellant “had problems” a few weeks before the decedent was killed. Anderson claimed appellant said she was going to kill the

decedent and he speculated that appellant “was behind” the decedent being shot at on a prior occasion. R. 181, l. 1 – 182, l. 20. Finally, Anderson admitted at an earlier time that he had stolen a pistol from Peanut [Eric Darien] “that started the beef.” R. 188, l. 17 – 189, l. 22.

Lieutenant Daniel Litchfield testified that based on his talks with others in law enforcement, he developed “Eric Darien, who is Peanut; Aneisha; and I was looking at Dre, Keandre Frazier, as being involved in it.” R. 229, ll. 18-25.

The interview with appellant was then played for the jury. R. 229, l. 18 – 233, l. 19. This interview, State’s Exhibit 29, is on file with this court. During the interview or interrogation, appellant repeatedly denies having anything to do with the death of the decedent.

Appellant also told the police during the interrogation that she had an alibi -- Deshonda Washington. Lieutenant Litchfield maintained he reached out to Deshonda Washington, but he said she did not come in for an interview. He was even unsure Washington was the woman who answered the phone when he called about wanting to interview her. Suffice it to say Lieutenant Litchfield did not pursue the alibi any further. R. 236, l. 6 – 238, l. 17.

At the end of Litchfield’s testimony, he said a female inmate in the detention center, Marie Powell, had asked that Litchfield come and speak with her. R. 239, l. 2 – 243, l. 7. The court was then recessed for the day.

### **Proposed testimony of Debbie Spann**

The following morning, the trial judge noted the attorneys had talked in chambers about Debbie Spann. The judge said she understood Spann was housed in the detention center with appellant. The solicitor now proposed that Spann was going to testify that appellant admitted to killing the decedent to her while they were in jail together. R. 243, l. 20 – 244, l. 3.

The judge observed, "I am slightly concerned about the late hour in finding her. You put her on the witness list. *You obviously knew she had information from Ms. Young*, because you knew she was housed with her . . ." R. 243, l. 9 – 244, l. 16. (emphasis added). The judge cited Rule 5, SCRCrimP, on a defendant giving a statement against her interest but the judge said she understood because the statement was not written or recorded and that the state therefore maintained "there was nothing to turn over." R. 244, ll. 17-23.

The judge told defense counsel Plexico that she did not see anything in the rule that prohibited the witness from testifying. Plexico countered that they had selected a jury on Monday and it was now Wednesday morning and he was caught completely by surprise. Plexico said he had no indication what "this witness was going to say. So if they're going to call a witness, *they're supposed to give me witness statements.*" R. 245, ll. 8-23. (emphasis added).

The judge said there were not any witness statements and that the only statement was a statement against interest by appellant to a jailhouse snitch, Debbie Spann. Plexico responded that he had asked "*for a synopsis of any statement they're going to use against my client,*" and Plexico said the state's failure to provide that synopsis should bar Spann from testifying. R. 245, l. 8 – 246, l. 11. (emphasis added).

The solicitor then asserted the rule only required him to turn over a copy of the witness statement under Rule 5, SCRCrimP, after the witness had testified. The solicitor said he did not have any statement from Spann. The solicitor claimed he was not happy that he was telling Counsel Plexico of the alleged confession at this late date, but said he had no other responsibility under the rule. The judge then ruled because Spann was not a prosecution agent but a jailhouse snitch that the state technically complied with the rule and "I think it comes in." R. 245, l. 8 –

249, l. 24. Defense counsel Plexico responded that was “trial by ambush” and the judge only urged that defense counsel talk with Spann “to see if that might cure it.” R. 249, l. 19 – 250, l. 6.

Debbie Spann testified that she did not know the police had been looking for her. Spann said she did not like talking to law enforcement but said she met appellant “in jail when she admitted that she killed my cousin Davonte Freeman.” R. 427, l. 12 – 428, l. 18. On cross-examination, Spann said appellant “admitted to murdering Davonte Freeman, and she wanted to take Kwame Freeman off the streets cause he was a witness to the case.” R. 432, l. 23 – 433, l. 6.

#### **Other evidence - Marie Powell**

Earlier in the trial, Marie Powell testified she was in jail with appellant. Powell claimed that appellant told her that Eric Darien possessed the .9 millimeter handgun. R. 394, l. 2 – 395, l. 22. Powell claimed that appellant asked her how much her friend Anthony Austin would charge to “take out Kwame, because he was the only eyewitness.” Powell said she interpreted this as appellant wanted Anthony Austin to kill Kwame. R. 396, l. 9 – 397, l. 21.

Powell also said she was aware that appellant at some point possessed the .22 caliber gun that allegedly was the murder weapon. R. 398, l. 6 – 399, l. 11. Powell also claimed that appellant told her that she planned to talk to law enforcement about Eric Darien’s “role in the murder.” R. 403, l. 19 – 404, l. 13. Powell admitted her long criminal record but stated she was testifying to get “justice” for the decedent who “had a baby on the way.” R. 405, l. 1 – 406, l. 9.

#### **Discussion**

Defense counsel Plexico told the judge that he expected, as usual, a synopsis of the contents of any inculpatory statements that his client had made to any witness for the state. Defense had filed and served its discovery motion requesting these statements, and it was in the

ordinary course of business that defense counsel expected to be told of any inculpatory statement his client made. “Hiding behind” the technicalities of Rule 5, SCRCrimP, was not the course of dealings in Jasper County or that judicial circuit. Supp. R. 1 – 4. As this Court is well aware some counties or judicial circuits have an “open file policy,” or an understanding on disclosure – a course of daily dealings – that goes beyond Rule 5, SCRCrimP.

Defense counsel was correct that it was “trial by ambush” to tell defense counsel, for the first time, on the morning of the third day of trial, that witness Debbie Spann was going to testify that appellant allegedly admitted to killing the decedent to Spann while they were in jail together.

As to Rule 5(a)(1)(A), SCRCrimP, “the rule, of course, is intended to enable a defendant to obtain prior to trial **any of his own statements** relevant to the crime charged against him so he will be able to prepare properly to face the evidence that may be introduced against him at trial.” United States v. Gleason, 616 F.2d 2, 24 (1979). (discussing the underlying purpose of the similar federal rule). Early v. State, 418 S.C. 255, 266, 792 S.E.2d 226, 233 (2016).

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