ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Jasper County
The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ANEISHA SHAIRE YOUNG,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2018-000525

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 68383
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit
P.O. Box 1880
Bluffton, South Carolina, SC 29310
(843) 255-5882

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
JUL 18 2019

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

Argument

As an initial matter, the trial judge's refusal to exclude the testimony of Debbie Spann is not preserved for this Court's review. The judge ruled the testimony would be admissible, and then offered time for Young to question the witness to cure any prejudice she might suffer from the late notice of the witness's testimony. When the witness did testify after the presentation of five additional witnesses, Young did not renew her objection.

"Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review." *Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct.App.2006). South Carolina law is clear that a party must make a contemporaneous objection

¹ *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

that is ruled upon by the trial judge to preserve an issue for appellate review. *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). This rule also applies to constitutional arguments. *See State v. Owens*, 378 S.C. 636, 638, 664 S.E.2d 80, 81 (2008) (finding constitutional claims not preserved for review without a contemporaneous objection at trial); *State v. Sheppard*, 391 S.C. 415, 420–21, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) (finding defendant did not properly preserve for appellate review when defendant made no contemporaneous objection and instead began cross-examining a witness). Young was afforded an opportunity to talk to the witness and prepare for the cross-examination before the witness took the stand. Presented with the opportunity to “cure” any prejudice, Young accepted with the phrase “absolutely.” When Young failed to object when Spann was called to the stand, she waived her prior objection. *See Doe v. S.B.M.*, 327 S.C. 352, 356, 488 S.E.2d 878, 880 (Ct. App. 1997) (“The failure to make an objection at the time evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the right to object.”) This issue is not preserved.

Nevertheless, even if Young had properly preserved this issue with the trial court, her argument is without merit. There is no right to discovery in a criminal case. *State v. Smart*, 274 S.C. 303, 306, 262 S.E.2d 911, 913 (1980). “Pretrial discovery in favor of defendants in criminal cases is not required by due process, and when the court permits discovery in advance of the trial, it is not acting under constitutional compulsion, but to promote ascertainment of the truth. Neither the provision of a state constitution that in criminal prosecutions every man has a right ‘to examine the witnesses for and against him on oath,’ nor the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, was held to give an accused the right to take pretrial depositions for discovery purposes.” *State v. Flood*, 257 S.C. 141, 145, 184 S.E.2d 549, 551–52 (1971) (citing 23 Am.Jur. Depositions and Discovery s 312 (1965)). Young’s argument, that her due process

rights were violated when the State failed inform her of the substance of Spann's testimony, or provide a synopsis, is not supported by case law.

Further, Young cannot show the State violated any provision of criminal procedure.² At trial, Young argued, "I asked for a synopsis of any statement they're going to use against my client, and they could have provided me with a synopsis, which is in Rule 5, and they failed — and by Rule 5, they failed to do that." (R. p. 246, lines 7-11.) Young appears to argue the State should have turned over any prepared documents related to this witness prior to trial. However, Rule 5, SCRCrimP, does not contain such a requirement. Indeed, the rule specifically excludes such disclosure.

Rule 5 requires the State to turn over, upon request of the defendant, statements made by the defendant, the defendant's prior record, documents and tangible items, and reports of examinations and tests. *See* SCRCrimP 5(a)(1)(A-D). In contrast, Rule 5 (a)(2) provides the following:

Information Not Subject to Disclosure. Except as provided in paragraphs (A), (B), and (D) of subdivision (a)(1), **this rule does not authorize the discovery or inspection of reports, memoranda, or other internal prosecution documents made by the attorney for the prosecution** or other prosecution agents in connection with the investigation or prosecution of the case, or of statements made by prosecution witnesses or prospective prosecution witnesses provided that **after a prosecution witness has testified** on direct examination, the court shall, on motion of the defendant, order the prosecution to produce any **statement of the witness in the possession of the prosecution** which relates to the subject matter as to which the witness has testified; and provided further that the court may upon a sufficient showing require the production of any statement of any prospective witness prior to the time such witness testifies.

² As for Young's claim the practice of providing a synopsis of witness testimony is the common course of dealings in Jasper County, there is no testimony on the record supporting that contention, only a generalized statement from counsel. (IBOA p. 13.)

(emphasis added). According to the provisions of the rule, the State is not required to turn over any document, or synopsis of testimony, prepared by the solicitor in preparation for trial. It is unclear from the record whether the solicitor had prepared such an internal document, but the Rule is clear that he was not required to turn it over to the defense prior to trial, even if he had. Moreover, the record is clear that the State possessed no written statement from Spann (R. p. 244, lines 20-23.) Even if there was a statement, the State would only have to turn over the statement **after** Spann testified.

In sum, there is no constitutional obligation or procedural rule by which the State is required to write and deliver to Young a synopsis of a witness testimony. Young's due process rights were not compromised, and the State complied with Rule 5, SCRCrimP. Moreover, Young was notified of Spann's potential appearance and was given time to speak to the witness prior to her testimony to prepare a cross-examination. Young has not offered how the cross-examination testimony would have presented differently if she had known about Spann's testimony well before the start of trial. Thus, Young cannot show prejudice from the State's refusal to provide her with a synopsis of Spann's testimony. There was no violation of the rules, but even so, a violation of Rule 5 is not reversible unless prejudice is shown. *State v. Landon*, 370 S.C. 103, 108, 634 S.E.2d 660, 663 (2006).

Harmless error

Lastly, the admission of Spann's testimony was harmless because it was merely cumulative to Marie Powell's testimony, which was also entered into evidence without a contemporaneous objection. *See State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003) (recognizing admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence); *State v. Schumpert*, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) (finding

any error in admission of evidence cumulative to other un-objected to evidence is harmless); *State v. Johnson*, 298 S.C. 496, 498, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989) (instructing admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence). There were two jailhouse informants. Young objected to Spann's testimony, but not Marie Powell's. Not only has Young failed to show prejudice from her lack of foreknowledge about Spann's testimony, she cannot show prejudice from the substance of the testimony to the jury when the jury heard similar evidence from Powell. This unpreserved issue is without merit.

II. The trial judge did not abuse her discretion in admitting text messages attributable to Young as an admission by a party opponent when Young claimed the cell phone number in an interview with police, provided her email address in one of the texts, and made incriminating statements about her involvement in the murder of the victim. The prejudicial impact of the texts was not argued to and ruled upon by the trial court and is not preserved for review.

The trial judge properly admitted text messages sent from and received by Young's cell phone in the hours immediately before and in the two days following the shooting. On appeal, Young suggests the texts were untrustworthy because the custodian could not identify the subscriber of the targeted phone and argues the texts were unduly prejudicial. At trial, however, the judge was sufficiently satisfied that the State authenticated Young's possession of the targeted cell phone, despite the lack of subscriber information, because Young identified her phone number to police in an interview and provided her email in one of the texts. The court concluded, therefore, that the messages from Young's phone were not hearsay but statements by a party opponent. Moreover, the messages were relevant and probative of Young's involvement in the murder of Freeman. Young's claim the vulgarity of the texts were prejudicial was not presented to the trial court, but, regardless, the claim lacks merit.

Standard of Review

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” *State v. Washington*, 379 S.C. 120, 123, 665 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2008). “A ruling on the admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” *Id.* at 123–24, 665 S.E.2d at 604. “The improper admission of hearsay is reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice.” *State v. Weston*, 367 S.C. 279, 288, 625 S.E.2d 641, 646 (2006).

How the Issue Arose at Trial

In pretrial motions, Young sought to exclude text messages sent by Young, as well as her cell phone location data. (R. p. 5, lines 5-10.) The solicitor told the court there were a number of text messages and phone calls he sought to use against Young to prove she lied to police when she claimed not to know Eric Darien. (R. p. 6, lines 16-25.) The solicitor also told the court additional text messages were evidence of flight because she discussed going to North Carolina. (R. p. 7, lines 4-16.)

Counsel for Young claimed to have only received the copies of the messages the previous week, but when challenged by the solicitor, said he would need to check his files to determine when he received the documents. (R. p. 8, lines 10-20.) Counsel claimed to be unaware of the text messages concerning Young traveling to North Carolina, arguing “It would take days to sit down and figure out whose phone number is what and go through all this. So I mean, he said he had a small number of messages he was going to put in. I expected to get them.” (R. p. 9, lines 8-12.) The solicitor offered to hand up the particular texts he sought to use, but informed the judge he had turned over all the messages to the defense, saying, “I gave him everything. It’s not my

job to narrow everything down and organize the documents for him.” (R. p. 9, lines 18-20.) The court asked to have a copy made of the text messages of interest and gave a copy to defense counsel. (R. p. 11, lines 7-18.) The judge did not rule on the messages at that time.

Later, following SLED Eric Grabski’s proffer of testimony regarding his cell phone tower analysis, Young asked for “a formal ruling on the text messages.” (R. p. 270, lines 9-10.) Counsel then moved to have the cell phone data excluded pursuant to Rule 702, SCRE. (R. p. 270, lines 11-17.) The solicitor told the court Verizon representative Karen Milbrodt would be testifying about the text messages, saying Milbrodt would give the cell phone numbers sent and received, the date, the time, and the **content** of the messages. (R. p. 270, line 23 – p. 271, line 6.) The solicitor acknowledged Milbrodt could not and would not testify about identity of the sender of the text messages. (R. p. 271, lines 3-10.) The court again deferred its ruling on the motion. (R. p. 271, lines 20-25.)

When she took the stand, Karen Milbrodt testified about how Verizon Wireless keeps records of phone call logs. (R. p. 313, line 18 – p. 314, line 21.) Milbrodt identified the phone records of targeted telephone number 803-842-3731. (R. p. 316, lines 2-6.) Milbrodt said there was no subscriber information to identify the user of that particular phone number, likely because the phone was contracted through a reseller. (R. p. 318, lines 11-23.) Milbrodt testified the text message content log associated with that number was provided to law enforcement, had not been altered in any way, and were kept in Verizon’s ordinary course of business. (R. p. 321, line 21 – p. 322, line 13; pp. 556-573.)

Young objected, arguing the records were not created by the business, but by an unknown third party. (R. p. 322, lines 16-20.) Young further objected to the relevance and undue prejudice of the text messages, but did not identify which messages she believed were unduly prejudicial

or irrelevant and did not elaborate on the objection. (R. p. 323, lines 10-12.) The court noted that the phone number associated with the records had been identified by Young as her number in a video statement already admitted through a previous witness, so the texts were admissible as a party admission. (R. p. 324, lines 1-10.)

The solicitor said the purpose of offering a limited portion of the texts was to show Young was lying when she claimed to police that she was not texting Eric Darien. (R. p. 325, lines 10-21.) The text messages also gave rise to the inference Young was directly involved in the murder because of her responses to some of the texts. The solicitor sought to introduce the following texts sent from or received by the cell phone Young identified as her own:

Received by Young's phone at 9:55 pm on April 29: *Yo call me asap*

Received by Young's phone at 9:58 pm on April 29: *Come on sis*

Sent from Young's phone at 12:31 am on April 30: *shawty's trippin. what's da move?*

Sent from Young's phone at 2:02 am on April 30: *You good bro?*

Received by Young's phone at 2:06 am on April 30: *Yea*

Received by Young's phone at 12:32 pm on April 30: *I see you hitting niggas what that fire welcome to the family fool*

Received by Young's phone at 12:33 pm on April 30: *Wit*

Sent from Young's phone at 12:33 pm on April 30: *Already....delete this text NOW*

Sent from Young's phone at 2:24 pm on April 30: *Who told u?*

Received by Young's phone at 7:57 am on May 1: *Mimi just hmu talking bout u told her I did that shit ... smh*

Sent from Young's phone at 8:20 pm on May 1: *Not around kuzzo.*

Received by Young's phone at 9:26 pm on May 1: *Wyd*

Sent from Young's phone at 9:30 pm on May 1: *on my way to nc.*

Received by Young's phone at 9:30 on May 1: *Why?*

Sent from Young's phone at 9:31 pm on May 1: *chillout fo uh minute.*

Sent from Young's phone at 5:51 pm on May 1: *mane I aint gone lie bruh I been hiding out they tryna pin me to uh "M" !!! Rs delete this*

Received by Young's phone at 9:53 pm on May 2: *What's your email?*

Sent from Young's phone at 9:53 pm on May 2: *aneishay@gmail.com*

(R. pp. 556-573.)

The court ruled the texts were admissible as an admission by a defendant. (R. p. 336, lines 6-24.) When the jury returned, the text messages were entered into evidence, subject to Young's objection. (R. p. 339, lines 1-4.) Milbrodt read the texts into the record. She also testified she had no subscriber information about who sent any of the texts. (R. p. 340, line 12 – p. 347, line 4.)

Argument

On appeal, Young does not dispute the relevance of the messages, but instead claims the messages were untrustworthy and unduly prejudicial. Young argues the judge reasoned "that because she believed appellant wrote the text messages automatically making the text messages admissible flies in the face of the judge's duty to weigh any probative value of the text messages against their unfair prejudice." (IBOA p. 18.) However, the record reveals a different presentation of the argument at trial. When given an opportunity to argue her objection, Young said the following:

All right, your Honor. I think they indicate an absolute, a lack -- there's an absolute lack of trustworthiness under 803(6), your Honor. I just don't understand. And furthermore, I don't see how they are -- what someone's opinion,

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